LIVED MENTORSHIP EXPERIENCES: REFLECTIONS OF EARLY CAREER TEACHERS' JOURNEY WITH MENTORSHIP

Aimee Wolfram

A Project Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies, Concordia University of Edmonton

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Education

Concordia University of Edmonton FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES Edmonton, Alberta

LIVED MENTORSHIP EXPERIENCES: REFLECTIONS OF EARLY CAREER TEACHERS' JOURNEY WITH MENTORSHIP

Aimee Wolfram

 Approved by:

 Simmee Chung [original signature on file]

 Supervisor: Simmee Chung, Ph.D.

 Brent Bradford [original signature on file]

 March 18, 2020

 Second Reader: Brent Bradford, Ph.D.

 Date

 April 14, 2020

Dean of Graduate Studies & Faculty of Education: Edgar Schmidt, DSocSci Date

I dedicate this work to: Amanda S.,

my mentor and friend.

Thank you for believing in me.

Abstract

Many early career teachers leave the profession in the first five years despite the implementation of district mentorship programs. Building on Clandinin et al.'s (2015) research on teacher attrition which found that in Alberta 40% of teachers leave education in the first five years - this study defines "early career teachers" as teachers who are in their first five years of the profession. Specifically, this research study aimed to learn from the storied experiences of early career teachers who participated in mentorship programs that assign mentors to beginning teachers. Guided by a narrative inquiry methodology, two teacher participants' experiences are illuminated including: the struggles of beginning a teaching career; the role mentors are perceived to play; and hopes and visions they have for future mentorship programs. From the research and this study, it is found that mentorship programs provide emotional and professional supports that can contribute to the sustainment of early career teachers (Claycomb & Hawley, 2000, Giles, Davis & McGlamery, 2009, Dias-Lacy & Guirguis, 2017). Researchers have suggested that mentorship programs with established goals and well-matched partnerships aid in mitigating the challenges presented for early career teachers (Dias-Lacy & Guirguis, 2017). Also, a finding discussed within this study includes the necessity for schools and districts to attend more closely to the lived experiences of early career teachers to sustain and retain them.

Keywords: *mentorship programs, early career teachers, beginning teachers, mentor and mentee experiences, narrative inquiry, teacher attrition*

Acknowledgments

Thank you to my parents, Daryl and Angele, for always supporting and encouraging me to be the best person I can be.

Thank you to Holly, my roommate, who earned her honorary degree by always listening and encouraging me through this whole journey.

Thank you to my supervisor, Simmee Chung, for being available and walking alongside me throughout this research journey.

Thank you to my master's cohort, Brenda, Brenna, Jenn, Jennifer, Katrina, Melissa, and Thom. I have learned so much from your collective wisdom. Thank you for showing me my voice matters.

Thank you to my grade team, Kim and Melissa, for having grace and supporting me as I balanced school and work life.

Thank you to my friends, Caitlin and Amanda, for being a listening ear, a sounding board, and seeing me through to the finish line.

Thank you to Dominique, my mentee. I have learned so much walking alongside you.

v

Table of Contents

Dedicationiii
Abstractiv
Acknowledgments
Table of Contentsvi
Narrative Beginnings1
Sliding Back to My Early Educational Landscape 1
Sliding Back to My Experience as a Pre-service 3
Coming to the Research Puzzle
My Own Mentoring Experience6
Purpose of the Study7
Literature Review
Methodology14
Participants15
From Field to Field Texts to Research Texts16
Thread One - Reflections on the First Year17
Sliding Back to My First Year
Thread 2 - The Perceived Role of a Mentor

Thread 3: Hopes and Visions in a Mentorship Program
What about Teacher Attrition?
So Now What?
Personal Shifts32
Practical Implications34
Social Shifts
Moving Forward
References
Appendix A44
Interview Questions

Narrative Beginnings

Sliding Back to My Early Educational Landscape

Dewey (1938) described how "every experience is a moving force. Its value can be judged only on the ground of what it moves towards and into" (p. 38). All of our experiences shape and shift our landscapes. My early memories of school provided me with a unique foundation of structure, routine, and sense of independence. The first school I attended was a private school where learning was completed at an individual's own pace. Walking into my childhood classrooms, even how they were organized, differed from an ordinary classroom. At the age of 6, rather than individual school desks, we had offices. Our offices faced a wall and had a divider on each side where you could work without distractions. I never minded the offices. For me, they simply existed as a place to work.

I recall the teachers' roles as being facilitators of learning. Throughout the day, as we worked in our individual work booklets, we would place flags on the top of the office dividers to ask for assistance. The flags gave us permission to score our own work, ask clarifying questions, and to move on to new activities. There was rarely direct teaching from the front of the classroom. I remember thriving in this environment. I loved learning, setting new goals (and achieving them), and enjoyed endless hours of reading when my work was completed. This said, looking back, I have very few memories of my earliest teachers. I wonder why this is? Why are my earliest elementary school teachers absent from my memory?

Eventually in grade 5, I exited the independently focused learning environment and entered a regular classroom environment which followed a whole class instruction model. Luckily, the work ethic I gained in my early years carried me successfully through the school system for junior high and high school. The collective memory of my favourite teachers were the ones who granted me independence, the ones who trusted me to accomplish my work, and those teachers who provided opportunities for leadership and extra-curricular activities. In many ways, my high school experience provided an ideal setting for learning. My class was small, my teachers were engaging, and I was able to insert myself in almost every extracurricular activity from drama plays to concert band to athletic teams.

I entered university under the guise that teaching would be a great career for having a family. I envisioned a career that would eventually coincide perfectly with my future school-aged children's lives. I was prepared to make what I believed would be a simple shift from a learner to a teacher. Throughout my childhood, I was given responsibilities and seemed to have a natural knack for working with children. My mother was a preschool teacher and I would often spend professional days working alongside her. Also, I carried with me idealized narratives from childhood. School existed as the home of my success and had become a comfortable place for me. School was something I felt good at due to my academic achievements and extra-curricular opportunities. These were some of the reasons why I chose to enter the teaching profession. However, I know now that these reasons are not enough to sustain me in this profession. Teaching is much more complex and multi-faceted that I could have imagined.

Connelly, Clandinin, and He (1997) discussed how "the most important area is what teachers know and how their knowing is expressed in teaching" (p. 665). My experience as an independent learner shaped the lens through which I view my classroom. I have been a teacher in the elementary school classroom for 9 years and counting. Currently, I work in a specialized program that focuses on teacher-directed learning. I began working in this program during my second year of teaching and it was a natural fit with my independent learner spirit. Looking back to my first years of teaching, I began to wonder about my early beginnings. I wanted to inquire

into the teacher I was and the teacher I am today. I wonder about who I am becoming. As I have become more comfortable in my role, I have also found tensions within myself. I wonder how my lived experience has shaped my own retention. How has my own learning and teaching shifted over time and what (or who) has influenced me? As I reflected on these questions, I kept returning to stories around mentorship. In thinking more about the roles my mentors played in supporting my personal and professional growth, I began to realize how mentorship was a foundational support that has attributed to my own retention.

Sliding Back to My Experience as a Pre-service...

My first experience in the classroom was during my pre-service¹ practicum under the guidance of two mentor teachers. Originally, I was placed in a grade one classroom in a specialized faith-based program in a mid-sized urban school. On the first day, the music teacher expressed interest in taking on a student teacher, and, as a result, I began to split my time between Kindergarten through to grade three music and a grade one classroom. While both settings provided important resources for me to utilize, my experience between the two mentors differed greatly. One mentor guided me and took time to demonstrate and actively engage with me in my learning process. The other mentor appeared interested in my progress, but seemed removed from the process of engagement. Her comments were few and there was less guidance regarding my lessons. Rather, I was given resources and told to teach.

In my second practicum, my mentor teacher shaped me greatly and significantly impacted my career. She continued to support me for years to come. Little did I know that I would be teaching alongside her, but now with a classroom of my own, only a year later. As a

¹ Pre-service refers to the practicum experience teachers undergo during their formal university education training where they spend time with supervising teachers in a classroom.

mentor, she modeled her expectations and demonstrated the highest level of competence. Her confidence in me allowed me to believe and trust my own ability. As I fondly looked back at this experience, I began to wonder what qualities she possessed that made her stand apart from previous mentors.

The Western and Northern Canadian Protocol for Collaboration in Education (2006) noted that "the distinct and most significant aspect of a motivation and self-concept is the element of perceived confidence" (p. 332). As I think about this element of "perceived confidence", and my experiences during my practicum, I remember being dedicated, but my self-concept was one of apprehension and doubt. I often asked myself, *Do I really have what it takes*? Two or three weeks into my second practicum, I noticed my mentor teacher was leaving me alone more often. At first, this caused anxiety to rise within me. How would I develop without feedback? When I asked her about it, her response was glowing and supportive. As my mentor, she felt confident leaving the classroom while I was teaching her students. I remember walking away from that conversation with a newfound confidence. Her confidence allowed me to believe in myself, sparking an elevated level of motivation to continue pursuing education.

My practicum mentor teacher was someone who believed in me, gave me practical advice, and listened empathetically to me when I felt overwhelmed. Having a safe person to discuss challenging situations with allowed me to grow, develop, and walk through challenging seasons. When I became overwhelmed, my mentor was someone who could ground me and was available to walk alongside me toward a solution. I had found what Paris (2013) described as a 'critical friend', someone who would provide emotional and professional support for years to come (p. 152).

Coming to the Research Puzzle

When I first thought of the idea of mentorship, unknowingly, I glazed over my initial experiences. As I shifted from being a student to a pre-service teacher, and then an early career ¹ teacher, my landscapes were constantly evolving and shifting. A once independent learner as a student/child, I was discovering a need for relationship and guidance as these landscapes shifted. I realized quickly that teaching could not occur in isolation and wholly independently but rather required collaboration in order to be successful. While I was accustomed to learning independently, the daily tasks would be too much for one new teacher to complete on their own without guidance.

Upon graduating in April, I immediately began to substitute teach. After I had applied to multiple jobs with no offers, I was feeling anxious thinking about what September would bring or not bring. I received a call in late August from a principal in a city located an hour and a half away and they requested an interview. The next day, I made the trek to the school with my mother to interview for a grade 5 and music teaching position. On the drive, I remember thinking of how I had turned down a similar job in a faraway town as I was reluctant to move away from my home community. At this point in my life, I did not know if pursuing my career in another city would be worth giving up the tremendous community support I had currently. There was much fear and apprehension in the thought of being removed from my comfortable community setting. However, the job itself appeared perfect. My last practicum was in grade 5 and my first practicum was in music. Within one week, I accepted the job, moved to a new city,

¹ In this study, I use the term early-career teacher as teachers entering the profession carry the same responsibility as later career teachers. Also, while early career teachers are just beginning their careers, they carry with them professional and practical knowledge that is valuable for schools.

and prepared for the first day of school. I was young, full of energy and spirit, but unaware of the many challenges that my first year of teaching would bring.

While I was eager, I was unprepared. Quickly, I felt what Tait (2008) described as a "dissonance" (p. 66) between my vision of teaching and the daily reality of my experience. The days were long and I was barely one step ahead of my students. I wondered if I could sustain this pace. I wondered if I could continue teaching away from home, with such a vast subject assignment? While I loved the students, I often came home exhausted and felt the loneliness of being in a new community.

One of my greatest assets that year was the principal who mentored me continually throughout the year. This was not a formal position, but rather a volunteered one. Often, she checked in on me, provided resources, and invited me for dinner. As I moved into a second year at a different school, I was assigned a mentor through a district-wide mentorship program. All these experiences became part of my story, and who I was, and am becoming. I now can see how their insights and mentorship have helped shaped my story. As I grew in my own ability and competence as a teacher, I began to desire to walk alongside early career teachers; this led me to pursue opportunities where I could be a mentor teacher. I enrolled in a district mentorship program and was assigned my first mentee².

My Own Mentoring Experience

After 7 years of teaching in the elementary school classroom, I was excited to shift from the role of a mentee to a mentor. In August, I was assigned to mentor an early career teacher as we both entered the two-year district-wide mentorship program. The same year, I heard that

² A mentee is an early career teacher who is participating in a mentorship program and assigned a mentor to walk alongside them.

another early career teacher had abruptly decided to leave teaching in November. This early career teacher was only 2.5 months into the profession when she made her decision to leave. As I observed this, now from the role of a mentor, albeit, a mentor for another teacher that chose to stay, I felt a puzzle grow within me. Why did the other early career teacher leave teaching early? What could have made her stay? What were her experiences?

Over the next two years, I frequently returned to these questions as I watched a few more early career teachers choose to leave the profession. As I wondered how to best support my mentee, I began to explore the role I would play as a mentor and around the same time entered a master's program. Within, I felt a passion grow for supporting early career teachers as I observed my mentee begin to flourish in her role within the school.

I began to explore how "the self-act of wondering about our own practices and teaching experiences" (Murphy, 2015, p. 2) was a valuable process. The longer I taught, the more questions I had. I wondered how I could better support other teachers in the school environment. From my questions and reflections, I wondered what sustained me to stay in this profession. What aspects of my early career teaching journey supported me and encouraged me to keep returning year after year? Why do I keep choosing this profession?

Purpose of the Study

When I reflected on my own experiences, I began to wonder about the lived experiences of other early career teachers. The purpose of this study grew out of my desire to inquire into the lived experiences of teachers who have participated in school districts which currently run mentorship programs that assign mentors to early career teachers or beginning teachers.³ While

³ Although this study refers to "early career teachers", I recognize that some districts may use the term "beginning teachers" to describe teachers who are just starting their teaching career.

statistical data regarding attrition rates in Alberta and research regarding early career teachers exists (such as the five-year longitudinal study done by the Alberta Teacher's Association of Alberta in 2013), there is limited data and research on the lived experiences of early career teachers who have participated in mentorship programs. Established mentorship programs provide a unique opportunity to learn why and how mentorship can foster a support system that can lead to greater teacher retention (Gilles, Davis, & McGlamery, 2009).

My hope was to learn from the lived experiences of early-career teachers who have completed a mentorship program. Guided by narrative inquiry, a relational methodology, I aimed to explore how the mentorship relationship has influenced participants' teaching and impacted their intentions to remain in the profession. For example, did mentorship help create a support system? What active role did mentors play in their early teaching careers? By attending to the storied experiences of teachers who have participated in and completed a mentorship program, a fuller picture can be explored.

Literature Review

In the following literature review, I will investigate the importance of viewing early career teachers' experiences in a more holistic manner by examining some of the complexities within the teaching profession. In addition, I will explore the value mentorship programs have been cited to bring to districts, schools, and early career teachers. Finally, I will explore research which discusses the role mentorship can provide in building resiliency and support systems for early career teachers.

As noted earlier, in this study, I drew on previous research which defines an "early career teacher" as a teacher in their first five years of teaching (Clandinin et al., 2015). The initial use of 'beginning' or 'new' teacher is commonly used among many school districts. Upon

examining the existing literature, the terms "beginning" teacher or "new" teacher may not fully recognize the personal, practical, and professional knowledge (Connelly, Clandinin, & He, 1997) that teachers already bring into the teaching profession with them. Rather, in my opinion, the term 'early career teacher' exemplifies how a teacher is still developing their identity and is 'in process' of becoming (Huber, Caine, Huber, & Steeves, 2013) yet they often hold the same obligations and responsibilities as more experienced career teachers.

In Alberta, "approximately 40% of early career teachers exit the profession within five years" (Clandinin et al., 2015, p. 1). According to Dias-Lacy and Guirguis (2017):

First-year teachers leave the field of education due to the lack of administrative support, inability to manage personal and professional expectations, limited teaching resources, lack of professional development, and difficulty handling behavioral problems in the classroom. (p. 265)

Many times, research into teacher attrition focuses on highlighting singular events or categorizing experiences. This fails to recognize the complex nature of human life. Clandinin et al. (2015) contended:

While useful for understanding the factors that mediate beginning teachers' decisions to leave teaching, categorizing them as individual and contextual factors can artificially divide beginning teachers' lives into professional and personal ones, making it difficult to achieve a holistic view of the lives of beginning teachers. (p. 2)

I agree with Clandinin and et al. as I, too, believe that we need a more "holistic view" of the lives of early career or beginning teachers. Early career teachers' decisions are impacted by their past, their current context, and who they are becoming (Clandinin, 2000). All these landscapes intertwine. This makes it difficult to analyze teacher retention apart from an individual teacher's lived experience.

Teaching is a complex profession with high demands and expectations (Paris, 2013). Hudson (2012) highlighted in his article how "universities cannot prepare pre-service teachers for the varying schools' contexts" (p. 81). Noted by Hudson, a significant portion of teacher development occurs in context over the first few years. Oliver, McConney, and Maor (2009) recognized how "few other professions have the expectation that initial training adequately prepares them to take on a full-time load of work" (p. 6). Oliver et al. (2009) share how early career teachers often have the same expectations as more experienced teachers. As Gourneau (2009) observed, "part of the challenge with teaching is because the best practices appear to be ever-changing, while the overall goal of establishing an environment conducive to learning for all students remains the same for teachers" (p. 61). Establishing an effective learning environment is an expectation for every teacher, no matter what level of teaching experience. I wonder what pressure this places on early career teachers. In my own experiences, I often felt I received mixed messages regarding best practices and struggled to find my own effective systems to foster such learning environments. Often, I felt as if I was failing early in my career, never able to live up to the changing standards.

Normore and Loughry (2006) mentioned how "without support and supervision, novice teachers often feel overwhelmed, disorientated and frustrated when they find themselves totally on their own in their classrooms" (p. 25). The transition from pre-service to the first year moves individuals from a collegial, supportive, relational environment to a place of independence and often isolation. Mentorship programs, as a result, have been created to ease the transition for early career teachers. According to research, mentorship programs and initiatives aim to provide

a "structured support system" (Normore & Loughry, 2006, p. 29) for the challenges early career teachers face.

According to Dias-Lacy and Guirguis (2017), "The most effective programs include mentors and mentees that are well-matched, have strong administrative support, and proper professional development" (p. 270). While this may be the goal of mentorship programs, what do teachers experience as they walk through a program? What qualities should a mentor possess?

From the research, assigning a mentor to novice teachers is known to have many benefits. Districts benefit from mentorship programs as they foster more effective pedagogical outcomes. Claycomb and Hawley (2000) found the following:

Teachers who stay in classrooms longer than five years teach students to higher achievement levels than those with less than three years of experience. Furthermore, novice teachers who participate in effective mentoring programs move more rapidly through the stages of becoming an effective teacher (p. 20).

As evidenced by Claycomb and Hawley, mentorship programs exist as avenues to shift the focus to training teachers in order to achieve the long-term goal of creating more effective teachers which can lead to higher student achievement levels.

In addition, research has demonstrated how mentorship programs develop a teacher's individual practice and self-efficacy. Dias-Lacy and Guirguis (2017) described a teacher having "a change of direction" (p. 270) after receiving requested support as a first-year teacher. I recall times where my mentor's thoughts and guidance provided a sense of relief and direction during stressful times of teaching. Many times, even a simple word could cause my own 'change of direction' - restoring my vision and confidence in my own ability. More research into the storied

experiences can provide first-hand information regarding how mentorship relationships affect where early career teachers are presently and their future selves. Normore and Loughry (2006) proposed that mentors "can help another to self-actualize into competent and enthusiastic practitioners" (p. 29). As early-career teachers experience this support, their teaching practices improve (Gilles, Davis, & McGlamery, 2009, Normore & Loughry, 2006).

Further research shows that teacher retention can be addressed by fostering resilience in early career teachers. As Huisman, Singer, and Catapano (2010) explained in their study:

The ability of new teachers to reposition themselves for success is the result of careful reflection. Although resilient teachers may disengage at times, their sense of failure is temporary and they always re-engage with the situation in order to try something else. (p. 486)

Mentorship is a pathway to set teachers up for success and foster such resiliency by creating an effective support system (Normore & Loughry, 2006). Recognizing the need for personal and emotional support shifts the conversation to seeing teachers holistically. Providing relational support has been cited as the most "frequently used protective factor to counteract stressors" (Doney, 2013, p. 657). Fostering teacher resilience would enable new teachers to "stick with the situation and find ways to handle stress" (Bobek, 2002, p. 202). These studies confirm that authentic mentorship experiences can increase resiliency skills. Schlichte, Yssel, and Merbler (2005) further contended "strongly forged relationships and the accompanying feelings of emotional well-being are protective factors and critical to retention" (p. 39). Although mentorship provides space for strong relationships to form, I wonder how programs can ensure such that strong relationships are forged?

Mentorship opens up opportunities to develop new teacher resilience by matching early career teachers with a critical friend who can help "identify and implement practical solutions to the challenges they encountered" (Paris, 2013, p. 152). Schlichte, Yssel and Merbler (2005) suggested that collegiality is a key variable in determining the overall success in an early career teacher. Furthermore, these authors noted that early career teachers often feel isolated and forming relationships as support systems can have a potentially powerful impact, leading to greater teacher retention (Schlichte, Yessel, & Merbler, 2005). According to Israel, Kamman, McCray, & Sindelar (2014), resilience strategies for early career teachers are combined and embedded within professional supports that mentors provide. Additionally, the support mentors can provide are immeasurable or invisible, as it is difficult to determine what would constitute as a professional and emotional support (Israel et al., 2014). Many times, the two are seen to be intertwined. This resiliency can be, in turn, a path to increase teacher retention (Doney, 2013, p. 645).

In studying the literature, I wondered what early career teachers perceive to be the most valuable supports. Do they see their mentors as a source of resiliency? However, even with mentorship, many teachers still leave the profession. By inquiring into the storied experiences of those who have remained perhaps there are identifying factors that contributed to their retention. As I pondered the questions of retention and how to support my mentee, I continued to wonder about the lived experience of teachers in Alberta. Being a mentor myself, I also began to reflect on the telling of my own experiences and how they have shaped my own retention.

Clandinin & Connelly (2000) described how "narrative inquiries are always strongly autobiographical. Our research interests come out of our own narratives of experience and shape our narrative plotlines" (p. 121). My own narrative directly influenced my research decisions to choose a narrative inquiry methodology. Since it was as I reflected on my own story that my questions grew, I desired to have my research reflect my own journey alongside others.

Methodology

This study used a semi-structured interview process guided by a narrative inquiry methodology. Narrative inquiry recognizes how our lives are shaped by stories and provides a lens with which to view experiences (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000). As a teacher, my life is surrounded by stories. For example, listening to the stories of beginning teachers allows us to take a glimpse into the whole person: where they have come from, where they are, and where they are going. Narrative inquiry recognizes that our experiences are personal and social, affected by the past, present and future, and situated within a particular context (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000).

Wnuk (2013) described how "narrative inquiry is a transformative, always-in-the making process that allowed me to inquire into my past stories of teaching" (p. 24). As I inquire into my past stories, I recognize my own evolving landscape and story. Narrative inquiry investigates a three-dimensional space of temporality, personal and social, and place (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000, p. 50). Temporality refers to how "any event, or thing, has a past, a present as it appears to us, and an implied future" (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000, p. 29). Each of the participants, and myself, are formed and shaped by events that are continuously shifting our landscapes. By sharing their stories and reflecting on my own story, threads of temporality can emerge.

To begin the process, I received approval from the Research Ethics Board at Concordia University of Edmonton. I then received approval from both the selected school district and the schools the participants were employed in. The research took place in a mid-sized suburban district in a K-9 school. Letters of my proposed research were distributed via e-mail and placed on a bulletin board in the staff room after the principals granted approval. I envisioned one to three participants who are currently in their third to sixth year of teaching and would be willing to share their journeys of mentorship and teaching. A few teachers who fit the criteria reached out and two participants were chosen. Rather than choosing participants who are currently in a program, I wanted to hear from teachers who were able to reflect on their past mentorship experience to see how (and if) it still influences their pedagogical practices today. I selected the first two teachers who reached out and appeared the most eager and willing to share their experiences. As well, these two individuals taught in different programs and divisions which would lend to varying perspectives.

After consent forms were discussed and signed, selected participants engaged in a semistructured interview. Both participants chose to invite me into their homes for the interviews which created a calming, comfortable atmosphere. Following the interviews, the recorded questions and responses were transcribed verbatim for data analysis. As I read through the transcripts and reflected upon my own experiences, I began to see threads that appeared interwoven between our experiences. I began to consider these three threads on a 3-Dimensional Inquiry Space (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000) in order to gain understandings from their stories. Upon completion of the written initial research texts, follow up conversations were held with participants to negotiate their voices in the written texts. Pseudonyms were given to participants to ensure anonymity and confidentiality.

Participants

Participant 1 (i.e., Diana) was in her fourth year of teaching. Diana completed her education degree with a secondary focus and is currently teaching junior high school language arts and elementary school music. Diana chose to teach in order to bring learning alive for students. Her passion for her students was evident throughout our conversation as she shared numerous stories regarding her students.

Participant 2 (i.e., Anne) was in her fourth year of teaching and teaching in an elementary school classroom at a K-9 school. Anne has taught three years within a classroom and also one year as a substitute teacher. She did not plan to become a teacher, but found herself in an education class during her university years. After highly enjoying the experience, Anne changed her trajectory to education. Throughout our conversation, Anne expressed her joy in the everyday interactions she has with her students that are often unexpected, but delightful and memorable.

Both Diana and Anne participated in district-wide mentorship programs where a mentor was assigned by principals for an early career teacher's first and second year of teaching. In these particular districts, early career teachers are only viewed as teachers' in their first or second year of teaching. Some districts use the term "beginning teacher" rather than early career teacher (as previously mentioned).

From Field to Field Texts to Research Texts

Clandinin and Connelly (2000) stated that "Narrative inquiry is a relational inquiry as we work in the field, move from field to field text, and from field text to research text" (p. 60). Narrative inquiry is about a relationship with my participants, as well as a relationship with myself. As a researcher, I began my autobiographical inquiry during the second summer of my master's program. From there, my works in progress evolved through a fall course as I prepared for the research portion of my final project. As Clandinin and Caine (2012) expressed "because inquiry is an ongoing reflexive and reflective methodology, narrative inquires need to continually inquire into their experiences before, during, and after each inquiry" (p. 171). As I

prepared and executed multiple interviews, I reflected on my own experiences using the 3-Dimensional Inquiry Space (Clandinin & Connelly, 2000), thus looking forward, backward, inward, and outward throughout the inquiry process.

As I looked across the field texts and my own experiences, my attention was drawn to three threads that occurred throughout the participants' stories. In the following section, I note the connecting threads while sharing reflections within my autobiographical inquiry.

Thread One - Reflections on the First Year

Go and teach.

I was told...

So, I felt lost.

I had no idea what to do. I felt stupid my whole first year. You're a teacher now, they said. Go and do something.

(Transcript with Diana, January 3, 2020)

These words were Diana's response to our conversation around the challenges she faced in her first year of teaching and what she originally envisioned teaching to be like. When asked regarding what she expected, Diana was surprised at the level of independence teaching required. "Go and teach" was the phrase she used to describe her first year. Although these words were never actually said to her, that is what Diana believed the expectations were of a new teacher. She expressed a story of teaching where there would be a "little bit more of a structure or a plan... or people would check [on your plan] and check up on you" (Transcript with Diana, January 3, 2020). Instead, she felt there was an unspoken expectation of, "oh, now you're a teacher. Go do something" (Transcript with Diana, January 3, 2020).

Clandinin et al. (2013) mentioned how "what is clear from this way of thinking about the experiences of beginning teachers is to see that the move from pre-service teacher education to teaching involves transitions" (p. 257). For Diana, there appeared to be little transitional support from her pre-service experience to her first teaching position. Rather, she felt as though she was expected to have all the required skills to teach students successfully.

Diana's comment of "go and teach" stayed with me long after our conversation. To me, it illustrated a jump. Almost an analogy of just diving into the deep end when you have only ever been trained in the shallow end where you can touch. You have learned some strokes, but you have not learned to use them in the context of the deep end. And, there is no one in the deep end with you commenting on your strokes and guiding you through every moment. The transition does not involve slow steps walking into the deep end. Rather, early career teachers take the plunge into unfamiliar territory. The transition to embracing a school culture takes time and most early career teachers are unsure how to navigate the heavy expectations. The expectations for Diana were the same as other teachers in the school who had profoundly more experience, yet there was no daily supervision or guidance. As a result, the level of independence required made it challenging for Diana.

As our conversations continued, both participants shared their thoughts on what specific aspects of their first year proved most challenging as they found themselves independently teaching in their own classrooms.

Likewise, during the interview, Participant 2 stated "I don't think I was prepared for any of it" (Transcript with Anne, January 9, 2020). Her words echoed across the table as she recalled

her own first-year experience and what she envisioned teaching would be like. She candidly explained "I think I thought that it would be way easier than it is. And I think I thought I would have more free time than I do. I didn't realize how emotionally draining it is..." (Transcript with Anne, January 9, 2020). After four years of being enrolled in an Education program, Anne felt completely unprepared for the expectations teaching would bring. She was surprised by the emotional exhaustion she experienced. During our conversation, Anne described the steep learning curve of classroom management, planning, teaching, and building and nurturing relationships with her students. In the beginning, she felt as if she had no choice but to let work consume her. Again, while the words were never said, Anne felt she had to put in the long hours and struggled to find any balance between her personal and work life. These invisible, unspoken pressures permeated her first-year experience.

Looking across the transcripts, both participants mentioned how the transition from preservice teaching to in-service teaching was challenging due to the daily protocols and procedures that were particular to a school culture. Anne expressed how "the little things add up" (Transcript with Anne, January 9, 2020). When she transitioned from a support teacher to a homeroom teacher, she struggled to keep up with remembering all the daily tasks and procedures. As an example, Anne described her experiences related to remembering various forms such as hot dog and/or field trip forms. She worried about things like forgetting an EpiPen for students with allergies. As a new teacher, Anne was unsure not only about how to navigate the daily protocols and procedures, but also how to remember them all.

Diana summarized her experiences of the challenge in following and aligning with a school's particular culture in our conversation.

19

Researcher (Aimee): Would you say those count as some of the most challenging aspects of your first year of teaching...or what did you find?

Diana: All the other things that they don't teach you in university. Like, how to use Teacher Reporting⁴, and how to do attendance, and all the little protocols within the school... all the activities that are just, you know, unique to every school that I had no idea what was going on half the time. (Transcript with Diana, January 3, 2020)

Looking across the two participants' stories, they seemed to share similar feelings around navigating school cultures. Hudson (2012) found early career teachers frequently discussed the need for "induction on school culture and infrastructure" (p. 80). Each school culture has their own policies, procedures, and nuances which teacher education programs cannot fully prepare them for (Hudson, 2012).

Lastly, even the type of school affected the transition. For example, Diana was a secondary trained teacher who found herself at a K-9 school. For Diana, her first teaching assignment did not align with her pre-service education and experience. As a secondary trained teacher, she felt ill-prepared for the elementary school assignment she had been given. Diana described how she felt lost and "stupid" during her first year of teaching (Transcript with Diana, January 3, 2020). Clandinin et al. (2015) found similar stories in their research:

Yet, in our interviews, participants told stories of themselves and other beginning teachers who, year after year, were given assignments and grades to teach where they had no previous experience, relevant education courses, or experiences in pre-service teacher education. (p. 8)

⁴ To protect the district's anonymity, a pseudonym was created to represent the online report card system utilized by this particular district.

New teachers are often given the assignments that are mismatched or often feel required to take whatever is available. Clandinin et al. (2015) found that in their "interviews, participants told stories of themselves and other beginning teachers who, year after year, were given assignments and grades to teach where they had no previous experience, relevant education courses, or experiences in pre-service teacher education (p. 8). In Diana's experience, she was unsure how to set up an elementary school classroom and how to navigate the core subjects that she had not received any pre-service training for. For example, the varying ages of Diana's assignment (from grade one to nine) and subjects created a challenge regarding how to set up a classroom that would be functional for grade one music and grade nine Language Arts.

Anne's first year consisted of moving from support to a homeroom teacher. Then, the following year, she shared a classroom and provided support in multiple classrooms. Her complex schedule had her running between multiple classrooms in the course of a day, working with a variety of grade levels and in different programs. The second year proved most challenging as she found she required a support system to assist her in the dynamics of team-teaching. As I reflected on their stories, I recalled my own initial first-year experiences.

Sliding Back to My First Year...

Social Media Post on November 8, 2011

A day in the life of Aimee: 9:00 - Staff Vs Student volleyball 10:30 - Computer lab experience filled with learning pains 12:35 - Lay out intense student math working period 12:40 - Student offered to pray for my headache 12:45 - First three students go for needles 12:50 - Student chaos 1:45- See 12:50
2:00 - Have 35 students in music class writing a quiz (quite successfully!)
3:00 - Have intense testing time with the Grade 2 class...
3:30 - Volleyball!
What a fabulously drama-filled day! (Post by Aimee, November 8, 2011)

Social Media Post on November 13, 2011

It is 7:15 pm and my art lesson planning is failing. I need suggestions that do not involve painting for my grade 3/4 class tomorrow?" (Post by Aimee, Nov. 13, 2011)

Above are two social media posts I made during my first year of teaching. In the first post, I listed off my lengthy schedule. At the time, I was living in a new city away from my community and friends. I was teaching grade 5 and this particular day was immunizations. Immunizations provide a great example of an aspect of teaching I had never thought I would be navigating. When I consider the reason why I made this post, I think I was surprised by all that I accomplished in just one day or perhaps I wrote it to gain affirmation that I was doing a good job. However, I remember coming home at the end of the day with a sense of disbelief - *did that all just happen in one day?*

In the second post, I was desperately seeking lesson plan ideas at the eleventh hour. My first teaching assignment consisted of 13 subjects spanning 7 grades. I had abruptly moved to this new city and began teaching with fervor. While I had musical training, music was not my major in university. I did not know how to effectively plan for music classes that spanned 7 grades. Also, I had very little art teaching experience for the two split art classes I was assigned to teach. Long days at the school became the norm and many times I was merely one step ahead

of my students. Every day felt like survival mode as I felt unequipped and unprepared. I found myself constantly questioning and doubting myself. Where would my lessons come from? How do I meet all the objectives? How am I supposed to fit in everything?

Clandinin et al. (2015) noted how "many participants thought they had to do almost anything, whatever it took, to enter the profession" (p. 8). This rang true in my first year as I coached volleyball, directed a music concert, and had my assignment switched twice throughout the first year alone. The stories told in this inquiry highlight how the early career teachers can experience "a great degree of dissonance" (Tait, 2008, p. 66) as they embrace the reality of teaching.

For the participants and myself, teaching presented unexpected challenges and expectations. At the beginning of their first year, Diana and Anne were both assigned a mentor to walk alongside them for the first two years. In the subsequent section, I outline Diana and Anne's perceptions and experiences regarding the role of their mentors.

Thread 2 - The Perceived Role of a Mentor

A mentor (a list)

- Someone who has been there and can empathize with you
- · Point person
- · Checkpoint
- Shows them the ropes
- \cdot Guide
- Willing participant
- *Giver of advice*
- · In-school personal counsellor

(Transcripts with Diana & Anne, January 3 & January 9, 2020)

These were the words used to describe their mentors during our conversations. When asked about her mentor's role, Anne's first response was how her mentor provided emotional support almost in the form of a counsellor. When she felt overwhelmed and needed an empathetic ear, her mentor provided one. It is interesting to note how the personal support her mentor provided was the first thing that came to mind rather than professional supports. Anne expressed a summary of the emotional support a mentor brought her. From her perspective, a quality mentor would "triumph when you had triumphs, and be excited when you were excited, and understand when you're having a hard day" (Transcript with Anne, January 9, 2020). Anne believed this emotional support proved to be the most valuable part of what a mentor could bring. As noted by Schlichte, Yssel, and Merbler (2005), "strongly forged relationships and the accompanying feelings of emotional well-being are protective factors and critical to retention" (p. 39). The 'emotional well-being' her mentor provided became a protective factor for her.

When Diana was questioned regarding what qualities of her mentor made her a good one, she emphasized her mentor's ability to listen, and be open, honest, and available. These emotional supports are what she felt set her mentor apart as a quality support system. This coincides with Normore and Loughry's (2006) findings of how "your mentor must be someone that you feel you can approach with any questions or situation" (p. 28). Diana mentioned how her mentor always embraced her questions by stating "I could text her, I could call her, I could visit her pop in whenever she'd never seemed like I was bothering her" (Transcript with Diana, January 3, 2020). Her mentor was someone who she could approach at any time, with any question or circumstance. This allowed for open communication and a safe space for Diana to bring her questions.

Diana and Anne emphasized the important supportive but practical role that their mentors provided. Anne felt mentorship was valuable "because I had somebody in the school that I knew was the point person I could go to whenever I needed help" (Transcript with Anne, January 9, 2020). Diana described her mentor as a 'checkpoint'(Transcript with Diana, January 3, 2020). It struck me after the conversations how they both integrated the word 'point' into their description of a mentor's role. Anne and Diana both expressed the need to have someone to guide or 'point' them through protocols, challenging situations, and to ask questions to.

When Anne was asked to expand on her view on mentorship by explaining the role mentors should provide, Anne used the wording of having "somebody to show them the ropes. Somebody to guide them through the first years of teaching because it is a cultural shock for anybody" (Transcript with Anne, January 9, 2020). As Diana and Anne navigated the challenges previously expressed, mentors took on the role of mitigating stressful factors by guiding them through the tricky protocols.

Both participants drew back to how their mentors provided advice. Advice took on many forms– from problem-solving to conflict resolution to reminders. To both participants, mentorship was a positive experience. In Anne's words, "It's nice to know that there's somebody there that is a willing participant to help you" (Transcript with Anne, January 9, 2020). These sentiments echo Knobloch and Whittington (2003) who suggested that "novice teachers feel more efficacious and confident if they receive positive feedback, guidance, and encouragement from their students, other teachers, administrators, parents, and community members" (p. 60).

When asked to describe the relationship she had with her mentor, Anne commented, "nobody can relate to it unless you're in it" (Transcript with Anne, January 9, 2020). She teaches in a specialized program and felt as if even other teachers in regular programs could not relate to her everyday experiences. In her conversation, she gave examples of how she felt being new to a specialized program, oftentimes "the parents question your knowledge on it, and they asked for a lot of reasoning" (Transcript with Anne, January 9, 2020). She struggled to find the *why* behind the processes in the school program. Her mentor was able to provide insight into the specific nuances to the program and resources that provided foundational knowledge. To Anne, a mentor is someone "who has been there and can empathize with you" (Transcript, January 9, 2020). In other words, a mentor is someone who has been in *similar shoes* before and can draw on their own experiences to support another.

Reflecting on my experience as a mentee, my most memorable mentors have been the ones who have provided guidance and encouragement in the form of advice that helps elevate my confidence. Frequently, I would stop by before school to ask my mentor questions. No matter how busy she was she would take the time to address my questions and provide solutions and suggestions for what was concerning to me. I often felt encouraged to be the best teacher I could be, while also feeling supported. I was able to ask for help without the fear of judgment or correction.

Looking across the transcribed conversations, what was missing or infrequently mentioned during our conversations was the notion of being provided with individual, pedagogical feedback. While there were small mentions of assistance with resources and classroom management, the role of the mentor appeared to reflect more of an emotional and supportive role. The mentor's greatest asset appeared to be their availability to be a resource for the participants, rather than an overseeing figure. A mentor was not seen as an evaluator. This helps distinguish a mentor as a safe person or a critical friend that can be a haven for struggling early career teachers. As well, the participants' experiences demonstrate the active supportive role a mentor can provide. Following their reflections on their mentor, participants expressed their hopes and visions for mentorship programs to consider.

Thread 3: Hopes and Visions in a Mentorship Program

Diana and Anne took part in mentorship programs that were district-based and assigned mentors for the first two years of a teacher's career. Their positive experiences can provide insight for future programs to glean from. As one of teaching's greatest challenges is finding time, both participants reflected on the considerable time spent with their mentors.

Interviewer: How did you connect with your teacher: mentor teacher? Diana: I kind of just bugged her whenever I needed her. Anne: We talked all the time.

(Transcripts with Diana & Anne, January 3 & 9, 2020)

How time is carved out for mentors and mentees to collaborate is a vital consideration. In our conversations as evidenced above, both participants emphasized how their main forms of connection with their mentors were spontaneous and organic. Riveros (2012) found that "professional learning occurs in diverse situations" (p. 610) and many times during unplanned conversations. It is vital to not underestimate the power of availability and how meaningful everyday conversations can be. Diana and Anne both expressed how their mentors made themselves available as they were needed.

Any time given to mentors and mentees was viewed as valuable on behalf of the participants. While conversations and assistance felt very organic, finding mutual meeting times could be difficult. When asked if there were any challenges that presented themselves during her involvement in the mentorship program, Diana expressed how "it would have been nice to meet with her more one-on-one; where I had more time like built into the schedule that I could take to meet with her" (Transcript with Diana, January 3, 2020). While her mentor was available for pop-ins and via text, aside from the three half days, there was no additional scheduled time.

Anne echoed her sentiments by expressing that finding a time that worked for both parties at times was a challenge. At one point in their schedules, both Anne and her mentor had a shared prep and expressed how valuable this shared time was. Anne expressed her desire for a monthly assigned time where her mentor and herself could be intentional in reflecting on the previous month and prepare for the next.

Diana and Anne were asked for their opinion on feedback districts and schools should consider within the implementation of mentorship programs. In reflection, both agreed on how mentorship partnerships are structured and decided upon matters. For Diana, there were small challenges at times with having a mentor teacher who was in a different division⁵. At times, (in her words) "some things...she just couldn't help me with" (Transcript with Diana, January 3, 2020). As a junior high school teacher paired with an elementary school teacher, there were systems and protocols that varied even within the same school. Her mentor teacher would assist her as much as possible, then Diana would search out others to guide her to these particular solutions. While her mentor and her were in different divisions, they did teach in the same program.⁶ Diana felt that it was vital in a school with varying program offerings to match partnerships based on the programs they were teaching in. Since different school programs have

⁵ Diana's school had three divisions: kindergarten to grade 3 (division one), Grades 4-6 (division 2), and Grades 7-9 (division 3).

⁶ Some schools offer varying program tracks such as regular program and French-immersion, or an academic program and a sports program (for example).

varying teaching philosophies and expectations, Diana saw matching partnerships within programs to be essential.

Anne noticed how having a well-matched mentor was a key factor in her success. She mentioned that other teachers had shared less positive experiences with their mentors. In her perspective, a successful program would consider not just necessarily grade-alike, but would consider the personalities involved. In her words, "I think it would be really important to match people up based on how well they would work together" (Transcript with Anne, January 9, 2020). She credits the strong relationship to compatible personalities and also the willingness expressed on both ends to foster a mentorship relationship. From her perspective, not all mentors sign up for the program, but rather enter one out of obligation which hampers the development of a mutually-beneficial relationship.

When asked for additional ideas for districts to consider, Diana suggested "a little bit more of a structure when it came to, like, what a mentor could actually offer" (Transcript with Diana, January 3, 2020) could aid in increasing support in an effective manner. While three half days were given, there was little direction or structure. In her perspective, more guidance as to how to effectively utilize the time would have been beneficial.

Both participants continued a relationship with their mentor beyond the mentorship program. Also, both agreed that a mentorship program adds value to their district. When I met with Diana to negotiate with the written text, she expressed once again how much she enjoyed and gained from the opportunity to participate in a mentorship program. From her perspective, the mentorship program was a support she highly appreciated (anonymous, personal communication, February 28, 2020).

29
In my own experience, the district I was employed in for my first year did not have a mentorship program. In fact, I was not assigned a mentor. Instead, my principal took the role informally. The challenge I discovered, was availability. A principal has copious amounts of obligations. Instead, I found myself continuously asking the teachers around me. Since I was the only grade five teacher in the school, I resorted to asking teachers in other grades. While I was willing to seek out individuals to answer my questions, I wonder if other early career teachers would be willing to do so. Also, I was fortunate to teach in a school with supportive colleagues. I wonder what beginning teachers in an environment with co-workers who are less willing to answer questions would do?

During my second year, I entered a formal mentorship program. Having a designated person, eased the fear of intruding on or consuming time from teachers. The three half days were mainly used to work on learning how to complete report cards. A few times a year, my mentor and I would attend sessions at the district office together as additional professional development. While my mentor was teaching a different grade than myself, she was the head of the program I was in. Her position enabled her to mentor me in the nuances of the specialized program I was teaching. For me, the structure was enough as my mentor clearly defined our meeting times and set out a purpose for us to attain. However, I wonder if all mentors would clearly define a purpose or see this as an intrusion or as additional work and time away from the class. Matching participants well appears to be a key factor in the success of a mentorship program. Dias-Lacy and Guirguis (2017) reported that "an effective induction program assigns mentees with mentors who are in the same grade level" (p. 270). Also, selecting willing mentors and providing them with direction and training is a key to effective mentoring programs (Hudson, 2012, Dias-Lacy & Guirguis, 2017).

Throughout the interviews, I kept reflecting back on my initial question. While I felt the participants had described their mentors' active role of support, I was unsure if I saw evidence of mentorship being a key fact in retention. In the following section, I explore participant opinions around retention and desire to remain in the profession.

What about Teacher Attrition?

Throughout the interviews, the question remained: does mentorship help with teacher attrition? This study was limited to two participants who expressed differing views. Anne viewed mentorship as an invaluable asset that has impacted her decision to remain in teaching. Anne discussed how a challenging second year of teaching led to her second guess if teaching was the right profession. In her words, "it was a serious consideration for me not to be teaching" (Transcript with Anne, January 9, 2020). In her experience, her mentor's ability to validate her feelings and walk her through the season had "a bigger impact than I (she) was aware of" (Transcript with Anne, January 9, 2020). Anne also highlighted how she believes that her current job is partly due to her mentor's feedback to the administration. Her mentor supported her emotionally, but also by advocating for her.

Diana's perspective differed from Anne's. To her, mentorship was a nice support and helped ease "the transition from being a student into being the teacher right away" (Transcript with Diana, January 3, 2020). However, she expressed that the main reason for staying in this profession was her love for children. This recognizes the complexity of attempting to measure retention as a means by itself. Referring back to Clandinin et al. (2015), viewing attrition through categories "can artificially divide beginning teachers' lives into professional and personal ones" (p. 2) and keeps us from considering the whole individual. While this was applied to the

reasons why they stay in the profession. This study exemplified how teacher retention is influenced by a multiplicity of factors, not just one single factor or event.

So Now What?

As I reflected on the threads presented, I began to address the questions regarding 'so now what?'. In this section, I explore the personal, practical, and social justifications for this research. By using narrative inquiry methodology, I also recognized my own story and shifting landscapes.

Personal Shifts

Being in my ninth year in this profession, it is easy to forget the complex nature of my initial experiences. As I plan to continue being a mentor for both pre-service and early career teachers, I recognize my own role in creating safe spaces for them. From the stories, I am reminded of how valuable it is to simply "be available." Hudson (2012) noted, "the proximity of the support appeared essential to the everyday matters where these beginning teachers required assistance" (p. 76). If the little protocols and daily tasks are the most challenging, a person needs to be able to address these questions as they arise. As I am available to answer questions and provide collegial support, I can enhance a teacher's efficacy and belief in themselves. Normore and Loughry (2008) described how "an effective mentor takes on a leadership role and will not judge you for your mistakes but will help you in every way possible" (p. 28). What made the inquired mentorship relationships successful was the openness and trust between the mentees and the mentors. Diana and Anne felt secure to bring forth any concerns to their mentors without judgment. Moving forward with mentorship, I hope to continue to strive to create a safe space for mentees.

As I make myself available, it is also vital that I continue to cultivate positive relationships as "taking time to establish these relationships is crucial for success." (Giles, Davis, & McGlamery, 2009, p. 45). Effective mentors realize how a teacher's identity and story occur across multiple landscapes, all of which affect their everyday practice. Early career teachers are trying to come to terms with finding a balance between the professional and the personal. In a mentor role, I must be "keenly aware of the important link that exists between the personal and professional lives of their mentees" (Normore & Loughry, 2006, p. 28). I need to invest in who these teachers are, in order to best support them in moving forward. From my own experience, a word of encouragement, dropped off resources, and/or a quick check-in went a long way in building my confidence and self-efficacy.

Also, as I press forward I hope to remember the reciprocal nature of mentorship. It is easy to grow stagnant in my teaching practices. Rather, I have much to learn and gain from mentees. Often, early career teachers come with insights, innovative practices, and a zest for the profession. Hudson (2012) noted how observing and providing feedback for beginning teachers "may also lead towards developing a culture of shared practices" (p. 77). Moving into my third and fourth years, I almost felt more isolated in my classroom. There was no feedback and very little sharing of practices. As I build and nurture relationships with mentees, I hope to continue those relationships into fostering shared practices where we both are continually expanding our professional knowledge and gaining from each other's personal knowledge.

After the interviews, I reflected on the feedback provided by the participants in order to see what aspects could potentially be practically applied within mentorship programs. From their responses and my own reflections, I have compiled some suggestions with practical implications for consideration.

Practical Implications

When I reflect on the words of the participants and my own experience, the largest gap appears to be in the movement from the pre-service teaching experience to the reality of the everyday classroom. Clandinin et al. (2013) echoed this by recognizing, "that the move from pre-service teacher education to teaching involves transitions" (p. 257). Based on the conversations alongside my own experience, here are a few practical innovations schools can adopt.

First, mentorship programs would benefit from an outlined structure to present direction for the mentorship relationship. Being a mentor, I made myself presently available, but could have benefited from a guide of protocols and procedures to walk my mentee through. While procedures and policies vary from school to school, the types of procedures are relatively normalized. For example, all schools have a vision statement and report card procedures. Communicating these procedures in advance can lay out expectations early for teachers. As a mentor, I received very little direction regarding which procedures to review with new teachers. I propose that each school or district strives to create a mini-handbook or checklist of procedures that mentors can review with their mentees. Such a handbook (beyond the detailed school handbook) could provide an easy access tool for not only early career teachers to review, but also be useful for experienced teachers who transfer in.

Second, while the participants developed positive relationships with their mentors, in reality, this is not always the case. Normore and Loughry (2006) noted that "the process of matching mentees with mentors is of utmost importance in the mentoring program" (p. 26). Practically, within mentorship programs, care must be taken to create mentorship

partnerships that are fitting and optimal. From this study, matching partnerships within school programs is the most essential. Matching grade alike was viewed as beneficial but not always necessary as long as teachers were in similar divisions. As Diana suggested, matching partners in similar programs and grades allows for the ability to have someone who can assist with the particular protocols that exist (Transcript with Diana, January 3, 2020). When a mentorship relationship is established, clear guidelines and professional expectations should be outlined. While the participants collaborated well with their mentors, it cannot be assumed that this will always be the case. At times, mentorship pairings will struggle with connecting and forming a meaningful relationship. Gilles et al. (2009) mentioned the possibility of a social contract as well as policies to deal with conflict resolution between mentors and mentees. According to a study conducted by Barrera, Braley, and Slate (2008), "mentors responded that it was absolutely essential a teacher-mentoring program have well-defined goals" (p.14). This provides for consistent structure and clear expectations for mentors and mentees involved. Expectations regarding a mentor's role, healthy interactions, the purpose of the allotted time, and the vision of professional development can set up participants for greater success.

While mentorship programs exist in some districts, many of the expectations and the mentality towards early career teachers has not changed. For many, they continue "to live with competing, often contradictory, stories" (Clandinin et al., 2015, p. 11). In addition, they feel pressured into accepting any assignments or requests they receive because they struggle to "say no to the requests being made of them because it could jeopardize their careers" (Clandinin et al., 2015, p. 9). In the next section, I propose a social shift of thinking regarding early career teachers or beginning teachers for schools and districts to consider.

Social Shifts

Clandinin et al. (2015) suggested the "need to shift the conversation from one focused only on retaining teachers toward a conversation about sustaining teachers throughout their careers" (p. 255). Mentorship can provide one avenue to aid in the sustainment of teachers as it can ease the difficult transition from pre-service education to teaching (Clandinin et al., 2015, p. 257). However, this study highlighted some considerations for wider social implications in regards to the retention of beginning teachers.

First of all, "sustaining beginning teachers requires that we know them as people" (Clandinin et al., 2015, p. 11). When we consider the whole individual, we recognize the need to create network opportunities and foster "an accepting school climate" (Barrera et al., 2008, p. 14). When early career teachers are hired, taking time to connect the teachers with fellow colleagues and provide team-building time, will aid in networking teachers into the community. If a mentorship program is not available, principals can pair up new staff with current staff members in order to foster potentially successful collegial relationships, as well as creating a designated point person. Promoting collegiality in all fronts can alleviate the isolation experienced by early career teachers. For example, having a staff luncheon or incorporating a short team-building activity into staff meetings can promote collegiality and opportunities for natural connections to form even within the busyness of the school environment. By focusing on early career teachers as holistic humans, with lives and identities outside of the profession, we recognize how we can learn from their experiences. "It is through relationships that the cocomposing of new lives for both becomes possible" (Huber et al., 2013, p. 220). Mentorship and walking alongside early career teachers must be seen from the perspective of how it is mutually

beneficial for all and an opportunity to co-compose new possibilities for our schools, our society, and ourselves.

Second of all, it would benefit schools and districts to strive for continuity when creating schedules and assignments for new teachers. Research has found that "continuity was something many participants wished for because they had not yet had the opportunity to stay in the same school or same teaching assignment" (Clandinin et al., 2015, p. 8). The conversation needs to shift towards sustaining teachers to promote retention (Clandinin et al., 2013, p. 257). While it benefits schools to place new teachers in open positions, filling in empty roles and boxing them into a yes, fails to recognize the benefit of long-term teacher development. By focusing on sustaining and developing teachers, schools and districts have the opportunity to enhance their school culture and develop teachers who demonstrate greater efficacy and pedagogical skills.

Moving Forward

Notions of dispositioning to unknow and not know open up understandings of the importance of seeing teachers as in processes of continual growth and change (Huber et al., 2013, p. 22).

In this profession, it is important that I keep acknowledging my ever-evolving transformation. Every day my own perceptions and understandings are changing as I interact with my colleagues and learn from those around me. I must remember that growing stagnant does a disservice to myself and my students. I must remember that I am not a sole source of knowledge for early career teachers, but rather we are constantly changing and growing simultaneously. It is vital that I aim to place myself in the position of "not knowing" and be prepared to 'unknow' (Vinz, 1997, p. 139) what I think I know in order to remain a learner in this profession.

Walking alongside Diana, Anne, and my former mentee- reminds me to be empathetic and aware of the challenges early career teachers face. Their storied experiences, along with my own as a once mentee myself, make me think about Huber et al.'s (2013) words as they share of how "individual stories entangled with, become shaped by, and shape one another" (p. 227). What makes mentorship meaningful is that we truly have much to gain from, and with, each other.

Moving forward, I hope to continue to hear more of the stories of the teachers around me and be able to travel into their world. Traveling in the way that Lugones (1987) speaks of reminds me that through "world"-travelling, we can work to identifying with others and seek to understand what it is like to be them and "what it is to be ourselves in their eyes" (p. 17). To better support those around me, I must continue to pursue knowing them holistically and travel to their worlds of experience. Along with this, I hope to continue to grow in my ability to actively reflect on my ongoing journey. To accomplish this, as Lessard (2015) noted, I, too, hope "to become more attentive within the school landscapes in which I live in the present, as I try to find spaces within myself to slow down, pay attention, and listen to the stories being shared with me" (p. 12). As a mentor, I must first listen to the stories around me and continue to recognize the value of each person's lived experience. These stories need to be heard.

References

Alberta Teacher's Association of Alberta. (2013). Teaching in the early years of practice: A fiveyear longitudinal study. Retrieved from <u>https://www.teachers.ab.ca/SiteCollectionDocuments/ATA/Publications/Research/Tea</u>

ching%20in%20the%20Early%20Years%20of%20Practice%20(PD-86-19b).pdf

- Barrera, A., Braley, R., & Slate, J. R. (2008). Mentors' views of factors essential for the success of beginning teachers. *International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation*, 3(3).
- Bobek, B. L. (2002). Teacher resiliency: a key to career longevity. *Clearing House*, *75*(4), 202-205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00098650209604932</u>
- Clandinin, D.J., & Caine, V. (2012). Narrative inquiry. In A.A. Trainor & E. Graue (Ed.), *Reviewing qualitative research in the social sciences* (pp. 166-179). New York: Routledge.
- Clandinin, D.J., & Connelly, M.F. (2000). Narrative inquiry. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Clandinin, J., Long, J., Schaefer, L., Downey, C.A., Steeves, P., Pinnegar, E., Robblee, S.M., & Wnuk, S., (2015). Early career teacher attrition: intentions of teachers beginning, Teaching Education, 26(1), 1-16. DOI: 10.1080/10476210.2014.996746
- Clandinin, J., Schaefer, L., Longs, J.S., Steeves, P., McKenzie-Robblee, S., Pinnegar, E., Wnuk, S., & Downey, C.A., (2013). Teacher education: A question of sustaining teachers. In Zhu, X., & Zeichner, K.M., (Ed.), *Preparing teachers for the 21st century* (pp. 251262).
 Berlin: Spinger-Verlag Barlin Heidelberg. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-36970-4 15

- Claycomb, C., & Hawley, W.D. (2000). *Recruiting and retaining effective teachers for urban schools: Developing a strategic plan for action*. National Partnership for Excellence and Accountability in Teaching. Washington, DC.
- Connelly, F. M., Clandinin, D. J., & He, M. F. (1997). Teachers' personal practical knowledge on the professional knowledge landscape. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 13(7), 665-674.
- Dewey, J. (1938) Experience and education. New York: Collier Books.
- Dias-Lacy, S. L., & Guirguis, R. V. (2017). Challenges for new teachers and ways of coping with them. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 6(3), 265–272.
- Doney, P. A. (2013). Fostering resilience: a necessary skill for teacher retention. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 24(4), 645–664. <u>https://doi-org.ezproxy.aec.talonline.ca/10.1007/s10972-012-9324-x</u>
- Gilles, C., Davis, B., & McGlamery, S. (2009). Induction programs that work. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 91(2), 42–47. <u>https://search-ebscohost-</u>

com.ezproxy.aec.talonline.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ859568&site=eho st-live.

Gourneau, B. (2009). Teacher educator as mentor: reflections on a resident teacher program. *Teaching & Learning*, 23(2), 60–71. Retrieved from

http://ezproxy.aec.talonline.ca/login?url=https://search-ebscohostcom.ezproxy.aec.talonline.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ehh&AN=41775147&site=eho st-live

- Huber, J., Caine, V., Huber, M., & Steeves, P. (2013). Narrative inquiry as pedagogy in education: The extraordinary potential of living, telling, retelling, and reliving stories of experience. *Review of Research in Education*, 37(1), 212–242. Retrieved from https://journalssagepub.com.ezproxy.aec.talonline.ca/doi/full/10.3102/0091732X12458885
- Hudson, P. (2012). How can schools support beginning teachers? A call for timely induction and mentoring for effective teaching. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 37(7), 71-84. <u>https://doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2012v37n7.1</u>
- Huisman, S., Singer, N. R., & Catapano, S. (2010). Resiliency to success: Supporting novice urban teachers. *Teacher Development*, 14(4), 483–499. https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2010.533490
- Israel, M., Kamman, M. L., McCray, E. D., & Sindelar, P. T. (2014). Mentoring in action: the interplay among professional assistance, emotional support, and evaluation. *Exceptional Children*, 81(1), 45–63. DOI: 10.1177/0014402914532231
- Knobloch, N.A., & Whittington, M.S. (2003). Novice teachers' perceptions of support, teacher preparation quality, and student teaching experience related to teacher efficacy. *Journal* of Vocational Education Research, 27 (3). Retrieved March 14, 2004 from http://scholar.lib.vt.edu/ejournals/JVER/v27n3/knobloch.html
- Lessard, S. (2015). Worlds of curriculum making: Familial curriculum-making worlds and school curriculum-making worlds. *Journal of Family Diversity in Education, 1*(3), 1-16.
- Lugones, M. (1987). Playfulness, "world"-travelling, and loving perception. *Hypatia*, 2(2), 3–19. Retrieved from

https://www-jstor-

org.ezproxy.aec.talonline.ca/stable/pdf/3810013.pdf?ab_segments=0%252Fbasic_SYC-4341%252Ftest&refreqid=excelsior%3A289b60276a1d8c99a0ada1f8db2fa521

- McCann, T. M. (2011). Mentoring matters: taking an empathic stance. *English Journal*, *100*(3), 102– 104. Retrieved from <u>http://ezproxy.aec.talonline.ca/login?url=https://search</u>ebscohostcom.ezproxy.aec.talonline.ca/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ913502&site=eho st-live
- Murphy, M. S. (2015). A life among children: letters from Vivian Paley. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 46, pp. 1-5. Retrieved from <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezproxy.aec.talonline.ca/10.1016/j.tate.2014.09.007

- Normore, A. H., & Loughry, K. S. (2006). Avoiding the pitfalls of the rookie year: How a mentor can help. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, *43*(1), 25–29. Retrieved from <u>http://ezproxy.aec.talonline.ca/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct</u>= true&db=ehh&AN=22560452&site=ehost-live
- Oliver, M., McConney, A., & Maor, D. (2009). Listening to the learners: Mentee's perspectives of a mentoring program for first year science teachers. *Teaching Science*, *55*(4), 6-11.
- Paris, L. F. (2013). Reciprocal mentoring: can it help prevent attrition for beginning teachers? *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, *38*(6), 136-158.

http://dx.doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2013v38n6.5

- Riveros, A. (2012). Beyond collaboration: Embodied teacher learning and the discourse of collaboration in education reform. *Studies in Philosophy & Education*, 31(6), 603–612. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11217-012-9323-6
- Schlichte, J., Yssel, N., & Merbler, J. (2005). Pathways to burnout: case studies in teacher isolation and alienation. *Preventing School Failure*, 50(1), 35–40. Retrieved from <u>http://ezproxy.aec.talonline.ca/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=</u> true&db=ehh&AN=18617590&site=ehost-live

- Tait, M. (2008). Resilience as a contributor to novice teacher success, commitment, and retention. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 35(4), 57–75.
- Vinz, R. (1997). Capturing a moving form: Becoming as teachers. *English Education. 29*(2), 137-146.
- Western and Northern Canadian Protocol for Collaboration in Education. (2006). *Rethinking classroom assessments with purpose in mind: Assessments for learning, assessments as learning, assessment of learning.*
- Wnuk, S. (2013). Finding Spaces for Inquiry: An autobiographical narrative inquiry into shifting teaching experiences. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Alberta, Edmonton.

Appendix A

Interview Questions

- 1. How many years have you been teaching?
- 2. Describe your teaching assignments.
- 3. What was the extent of your participation within a mentorship program?
- 4. Why did you pursue teaching? Are there specific life experiences of people that influenced your choice to enter the profession?
- 5. Reflecting on your first month of teaching, what did you expect it to be like?
- 6. What are some memories of your first years of teaching that stand out as memorable?
- 7. What were some of the challenges you found in your first two years of teaching?
- 8. Describe the relationship you had with your mentor.
- 9. How did you connect (and how often) with your mentor?
- 10. Reflecting back, what did you see as your mentor's role?
- 11. What supports did your mentor provide?
- 12. What challenges did you encounter within mentorship?
- 13. Did interactions with your mentor change your every day teaching? If so, how?
- 14. Are there additional supports and/or resources that you wish you had received during your first two years of teaching?
- 15. Is there an interaction with your mentor that is memorable?
- 16. Did mentorship impact your decision to remain in teaching?